Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# **Redox Biology**

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/redox

# Review Article Interdependence of tetrapyrrole metabolism, the generation of oxida-

# tive stress and the mitigative oxidative stress response

# Andrea W.U. Busch<sup>a</sup>, Beronda L. Montgomery<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Energy, Plant Research Laboratory, Michigan State University, 612 Wilson Road, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA
 <sup>b</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Michigan State University, 612 Wilson Road, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 18 November 2014 Received in revised form 12 January 2015 Accepted 14 January 2015 Available online 16 January 2015

Keywords: High light Iron Oxidative stress Photosynthesis ROS Tetrapyrrole

# ABSTRACT

Tetrapyrroles are involved in light harvesting and light perception, electron-transfer reactions, and as cofactors for key enzymes and sensory proteins. Under conditions in which cells exhibit stress-induced imbalances of photosynthetic reactions, or light absorption exceeds the ability of the cell to use photoexcitation energy in synthesis reactions, redox imbalance can occur in photosynthetic cells. Such conditions can lead to the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) associated with alterations in tetrapyrrole homeostasis. ROS accumulation can result in cellular damage and detrimental effects on organismal fitness, or ROS molecules can serve as signals to induce a protective or damage-mitigating oxidative stress signaling response in cells. Induced oxidative stress responses include tetrapyrrole-dependent and -independent mechanisms for mitigating ROS generation and/or accumulation. Thus, tetrapyrroles can be contributors to oxidative stress, but are also essential in the oxidative stress response to protect cells by contributing to detoxification of ROS. In this review, we highlight the interconnection and interdependence of tetrapyrrole metabolism with the occurrence of oxidative stress and protective oxidative stress signaling responses in photosynthetic organisms.

© 2015 Elsevier B.V.. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction	
Light- and phytochrome-based responses to oxidative stress.	
ROS as developmental signals	
Phytochrome-regulated oxidative stress response	
Photoreceptor-regulation of energy-dissipation mechanisms	
Tetrapyrroles and tetrapyrrole-containing proteins can mediate the cellular detoxification of reactive oxygen species	
Interconnection of oxidative stress, tetrapyrrole metabolism and nutrient availability	
Iron-induced oxidative stress	
Iron in the oxidative stress response	
Iron-tetrapyrrole interconnection	
Function of tetrapyrroles as signaling molecules and the oxidative stress response	
Tetrapyrroles, oxidative stress response and TspO	
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
References	

\* Correspondence to: Plant Research Lab, Michigan State University, DOE, 612 Wilson Road, East Lansing, MI 48824, USA. *E-mail address:* montg133@msu.edu (B.L. Montgomery).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2015.01.010 2213-2317/© 2015 Elsevier B.V.. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.







# Introduction

Tetrapyrroles are linear or cyclic molecules containing four pyrrole rings that are ubiquitously utilized as cofactors in all kingdoms. These molecules are involved in central metabolic processes, including respiration, methanogenesis and photosynthesis (reviewed in [1]). The most versatile tetrapyrrole cofactor is the porphyrin heme. This cyclic tetrapyrrole contains a central iron atom and is a major player in many cellular processes. Heme-bound proteins, i.e., hemoproteins, are involved in diverse functions ranging from oxygen transport to cellular signaling, energy transduction, lipid biosynthesis, and gene regulation, among others (reviewed in [1–3]). In photosynthesis, chlorophyll and the open-chain phycobilins are the most abundant and functionally important tetrapyrroles. Chlorophyll is present in the core photosystems of oxygenic photosynthetic organisms and the extended light-harvesting complexes of plants and algae (reviewed in [4–6]). Phycobilins are found in the light-harvesting phycobilisomes attached to the core photosystems of algae and cyanobacteria and phycobilins and related linear tetraypyrrole bilins serve as the chromophores of plant and bacterial photoreceptors (reviewed in [7]).

Tetrapyrrole biosynthesis has been studied in great detail and is outlined in many excellent reviews [1,8]. A central portion of tetrapyrrole synthesis yields products for chlorophyll synthesis and for production of heme and heme-derived tetrapyrroles, all of which are critical for photosynthesis and respiration. This part of tetrapyrrole synthesis includes the formation of protoporphyrin IX, a cyclic tetrapyrrole, after which the pathway bifurcates into the magnesium-dependent chlorophyll or iron-dependent heme branches (Fig. 1). The cleavage of heme and subsequent reduction of the biliverdin product yields bilins, which can act as chromophores for light-sensing photoreceptors or light-harvesting phycobiliproteins as introduced above. In this regard, tetrapyrroles are of special interest in the photosynthetic cell.

Photooxidative stress is a core part of a photosynthetic lifestyle. It can be caused by overreduction of the photosynthetic apparatus when light absorbed exceeds the needs for carbon accumulation or the capacity for electron transfer. When light is in excess, energy transfer from photoexcited chlorophyll in photosystem II to oxygen results in singlet oxygen  $({}^{1}O_{2})$  formation [9–11]. Other reactive oxygen species (ROS) form through distinct mechanisms, e.g., electron transfer from electron acceptors of photosystem I to oxygen instead of ferredoxin primarily leads to superoxide anion radical  $(O_2^{\bullet-})$  production [12]. The relatively stable ROS hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  can be produced due to reduction of superoxide, and can be detoxified by catalases or peroxidases (reviewed in [13,14])(note: see Table 1 for description of these and other molecules involved in oxidative stress). However, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation can also be catalyzed by metals such as iron to generate hydroxyl radical (HO<sup>•</sup>) in Fenton chemistry [15].

Besides chlorophyll, other tetrapyrroles can act as photosensitizers due to their ability to absorb light of different wavelengths. These molecules, thus, also pose a threat to the cell when they accumulate in their free form due to changes in their synthesis and utilization [16,17]. Central to cellular survival and productivity, therefore, is a need to mitigate any potential damage associated with the accumulation of free tetrapyrroles. Notably, an accumulation of tetrapyrroles in the cell, e.g., by a change in flow through biosynthetic pathways, leads to increased production and/ or activity of ROS-detoxifying enzymes, including superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase enzymes [18]. Additionally, detoxification of redox-active heme can be achieved by heme-binding proteins through export, sequestration and/or degradation of heme (reviewed in [19]). On the contrary, some tetrapyrroles have been reported to have antioxidant properties and thus rather than



**Fig. 1.** Tetrapyrrole biosynthesis. Eight molecules of  $\delta$ -aminolaevulinic acid ( $\partial$ -ALA) form the tetrapyrrole ring. The cyclic tetrapyrrole protoporphyrin IX, a porphyrin, feeds into the magnesium-dependent (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) chlorophyll or iron-dependent (Fe<sup>2+</sup>) heme pathway. The chlorophylls are essential components in the photosystems, whereas the phycobilins serve in light-harvesting in the phycobilisome antennae [1].

causing damage to cells can support ROS scavenging [20]. These observations highlight the complex relationship between tetrapyrrole metabolism and oxidative stress. In this review, we primarily focus on the interdependence of tetrapyrroles and oxidative stress in photosynthetic organisms.

#### Table 1

Enzymes, molecules and protein complexes involved in oxidative stress and/or oxidative stress responses in photosynthetic organisms.

Molecule	Class	Primary function	Molecule/cofactor/ligand	Role in oxidative stress	Reference(s)
Catalase	Enzyme	Decomposition of hydrogen peroxide	Heme	ROS detoxification	For review see [177]
Peroxidase	Enzyme	Decomposition of hydrogen peroxide	Heme	ROS detoxification	For review see [177]
Superoxide dismutase	Enzyme	Dismutation of superoxide radical into molecular oxygen ( $O_2$ ) or hydro- gen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ )	Iron	ROS detoxification	For review see [177]
Rubrerythrin	Enzyme	Hydrogen peroxide reduction	Iron	Oxidative stress defense	[111]
N/A <sup>a</sup>	Light-absorbing, photosensory	Cofactors, chromophores, etc.	Tetrapyrroles, porphyrins (e.g., heme, chlorophyll, proto- chlorophyll(ide))	Photosensitizers, antioxidants, oxidative stress signaling	[16,17]
N/A	Light-absorbing, photosensory	Light harvesting, photoprotection	Carotenoids	Energy dissipation, antioxidants	For review see [33]
Phytochromes (e.g. phyA, phyB) and phytochrome-like photoreceptors (e.g., BphP, RcaE)	Light-absorbing, photosensory	Light perception	Phycobilins	Regulation of oxidative stress response (including phyto- chrome-interacting factor [PIF]-dependent responses, regulation of tetrapyrrole and carotenoid biosynthesis, regulation of antioxidant accumulation)	[32,56,57,72,73,76–79]
Hemoproteins	Regulator, sensor	Diverse functions	Heme	Redox regulation/sensing, onset of oxidative stress re- sponse, heme export, heme sequestration	For review see [1–3]
Iron uptake regulator (Fur)	Regulator	Iron homeostasis	Heme/iron	Regulation of iron dependent ROS-detoxifying/responsive genes/enzymes	[122–124]
Iron responsive regulators (Irr)	Regulator	Iron homeostasis	Iron	Regulation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis	[130]
DNA-binding protein (starvation or stationary-phase induced), Dps	Regulator	Hydrogen peroxide decomposition, DNA protection	Iron, heme	Regulation of oxidative stress defense	[112-115]
Ferritin	Iron/iron storage protein	Iron storage	Iron	Iron homeostasis, iron release	[104,120]
N/A	Metal, micronutrient	N/A	Iron (limitation or excess)	Oxidative stress induction	[32,33,107,108,178]
Phycobilisomes	Light-harvesting pro- tein complex	Light harvesting	Phycobilins	Overexcitation can result in overreduction of photo- systems and ROS formation	[23–25]
Photosystems	Light-harvesting pro- tein complex	Light harvesting	Chlorophyll	Overexcitation can result in ROS formation	[9–12]
IsiA	Light-harvesting protein	light harvesting	Chlorophyll, carotenoid	Energy dissipation under iron-induced oxidative stress	[118]
Tryptophane-rich sensory protein (TSPO)	Protein of emerging function	Stress-related membrane protein	Tetrapyrroles, benzodiazepines, cholesterol	Tetrapyrrole homeostasis, fine-regulation of oxidative stress response	[90,159–164]

<sup>a</sup> N/A, not applicable to molecule being described.

## Light- and phytochrome-based responses to oxidative stress

Light-induced oxidative stress primarily originates from the absorption of light energy by tetrapyrroles or tetrapyrrole-mediated electron transfer reactions. Energy transfer can occur from photosensitized chlorophyll to oxygen, resulting in the formation of highly reactive singlet oxygen [9,21]. In the Mehler reaction, oxygen is the electron acceptor instead of ferredoxin which results in the generation of superoxide anion radical [12]. In phycobilisome-containing cyanobacteria and algae, light-absorbing phycobilins (open-chain tetrapyrroles derived from heme) are highly abundant. Phycobilin-containing phycobilisomes can comprise up to 50% of the total soluble protein in the cell [22]. These molecules enable photosynthesis even under dim light. However, phycobilisomes can contribute to making cells more vulnerable to photoinhibition under higher light intensities where more light may be available than can be used effectively in the production of reduced carbon [23-25]. Additionally, photosensitized phycobiliproteins have been shown to promote the formation of reactive oxygen species [26,27]. Other factors contributing to photooxidative stress include the formation of singlet oxygen as a by-product of lipoxygenase activity, damage of catalase, UV-induced tissue damage, or electron transfer to oxygen from iron-sulfur clusters or ferredoxin (reviewed in [28]).

Light is a major factor in creating oxidative stress in photosynthetic organisms, although light-independent ROS formation has also been addressed [29,30]. Excessive light can result in oxidative stress by overreduction of the electron transport chain. Nutrient deprivation also can contribute to this affect primarily by impacting the ratios of photosynthetic proteins and/or electron transport capacity, as well as impacting levels and functions of micronutrient-dependent, oxidative stress-mitigating enzymes, as discussed in detail below [31,32]. Thus, either excessive light or nutrient deprivation can lead to ROS production [13,32,33]. Photosynthetic organisms employ different long- and short-term strategies to cope with light-induced oxidative stress (reviewed in [13,34]). Long-term signaling is achieved through light activation of photoreceptors resulting in a specific regulatory output, including photoreceptor-dependent induction of photoprotective mechanisms such as antioxidant, ROS detoxification and energy dissipation mechanisms (e.g., [32,35–39]). For example, phytochromes of plants and bacterial phytochrome-like photoreceptors (jointly referred to as phytochromes hereafter), a class of dimeric sensor kinases with a covalently attached open-chain tetrapyrrole chromophore, can sense light-intensity as well as light-quality changes resulting in a modulation of gene transcription, including readjustment of the photosynthetic apparatus to regulate and/or tune light absorption to match the external photoenvironment (reviewed in [7,40]). Induction of genes involved in photoprotection is also induced by temperature and nutrient starvation [32,41]. Short-term responses to light-induced oxidative stress include energy dissipation mechanisms, activation of antioxidant enzymes already present in the cell, and ROS-dependent signaling. In the latter case, ROS can act directly as a signal to activate ROSmitigating mechanisms (reviewed in [42]).

#### ROS as developmental signals

The co-occurrence of excess light and aberrations in tetrapyrrole metabolism are one cause of ROS generation. ROS generation can also feedback to impact cellular tetrapyrrole homeostasis. For example, exposure of *Cucumis sativus* plants to high light resulted in an inhibition of ð-aminolevulinic acid (ALA) biosynthesis in plants that was attributed to ROS formation [43], which supports a negative effect of oxidative stress on tetrapyrrole biosynthesis. ROS formation is not only potentially harmful to cells, ROS can also provide an important developmental signal that is integrated with other signaling networks (reviewed in detail in [44,45]). Different types of ROS, e.g., singlet oxygen, superoxide, or hydrogen peroxide, can serve as signaling molecules and activate distinct signaling pathways, though crosstalk between these pathways also may occur [46]. Thus, ROS are involved in a diverse network of developmental signals and in signaling pathways in which they also can help limit oxidative damage [47–50].

A specific connection between singlet oxygen signaling and tetrapyrrole biosynthesis has been implicated. For example, protochlorophyllide accumulates in the dark in the plant *flu* mutant: upon illumination of the *flu* mutant, protochlorphyllide acts as a photosensitizer and results in elevated levels of singlet oxygen [17]. As singlet oxygen is highly reactive, its accumulation causes damage to cells. However, singlet oxygen also acts as a signaling molecule capable of triggering a stress response that results in growth inhibition and cell death. This is evident by the upregulation of stress response genes in the *flu* mutant after a dark/light shift [51]. The chloroplast-localized EXECUTER proteins are essential for initiating this singlet oxygen-triggered response [52,53]. Upregulation of stress-related genes in the Arabidopsis stn7, tap38/ pph1 and npq4 mutants, including genes involved in the jasmonate hormone signaling pathway in plants, is likely mediated by elevated levels of singlet oxygen [47]. Similarly, the Arabidopsis thaliana npq1/lut2 double mutant that is deficient in two photoprotective xanthophylls accumulated higher levels of singlet oxygen compared to wild type under high light [54]. Transcript analysis of this mutant demonstrated a higher abundance of genes involved in protection against ROS suggesting a signaling function for singlet oxygen in nuclear gene expression and acclimation to stress [54]. Notably, tetrapyrrole synthesis was affected in both the flu mutant and the xanthophyll-deficient npq1/lut2 mutant, providing specific evidence for a fine-tuning of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis through ROS [54,55].

#### Phytochrome-regulated oxidative stress response

Light affects ROS production and ROS-dependent signaling. The phytochrome photoreceptors phyA and phyB are specifically involved in regulation of ROS signaling by directly affecting the stability of phytochrome interacting factors (PIFs) [56,57]. Mutants of PIF1 and PIF3 are greening-deficient and accumulate protochlorophyllide and singlet oxygen after dark-grown seedlings were exposed to light, implicating PIFs in the prevention of singlet oxygen production during seedling etiolation. Genes with roles in ROS signaling, ROS responses and oxidative stress-induced genes were upregulated in *pif* mutants after light exposure [56]. Both PIF proteins were able to bind to the promoter sequences of the misregulated genes. PIF1 and PIF3, therefore, likely act directly as negative regulators of ROS-responsive genes [56,57]. PIFs accumulate in the dark whereas light-dependent PIF degradation is triggered by direct interaction of the proteins with phytochrome [57,58]. Notably, the same ROS-responsive genes impacted in the *pif* mutants were downregulated in phytochrome mutants, in which PIF1 and PIF3 proteins are stabilized [56]. Thus, ROS-responsive genes are downregulated in the dark through PIF1 and PIF3. With the onset of light, phytochrome absorbs red light, is activated, and mediates degradation of the PIFs, which in turn results in the derepression of ROS-responsive genes and contributes directly to the onset of oxidative stress-preventing mechanisms [56,58].

The tetrapyrrole biosynthesis pathway is regulated through tetrapyrroles primarily covalently attached to their cognate phytochrome sensors, although chromophore attachment has been infrequently reported as non-covalent. Any disturbances in the tetrapyrrole biosynthetic pathway can cause intermediates to accumulate and, if unregulated or if the products are exposed to light, can result in an increase in cellular oxidative stress [59]. Therefore, control of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis prevents oxidative stress. Phytochrome-regulated PIF1 negatively regulates tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes for protochlorophyllide oxidoreductase, ferrochelatase and heme oxygenase in the dark [60]. This finding suggests a role of phytochrome in preventing tetrapyrrole-induced oxidative stress by also contributing to PIF-dependent regulation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis.

Changes in light quality and/or quantity regulate phytochromedependent induction of an oxidative stress response, while high light-induced ROS formation can also trigger a similar response through ROS as signaling molecules. Besides ROS- and phytochrome-mediated signaling, changes in the redox state, caused by light-induced changes in photosynthetic activity, affects tetrapyrrole synthesis [61–64].

#### Photoreceptor-regulation of energy-dissipation mechanisms

Carotenoids are accessory photosynthetic pigments that have essential functions in oxidative stress prevention through their role in energy dissipation and as non-enzymatic antioxidants (reviewed in [13]). In plants, carotenogenesis is regulated at the level of transcription by photoreceptors such as phototropin, cryptochrome and phytochrome, which impact expression of carotenoid biosynthetic or homeostasis genes [65,66]. Similar to the mechanism of the phytochrome-dependent transcriptional activation of ROS-responsive genes described above, transcription factor PIF1 binds to the promoter of the carotenoid biosynthesis gene phytoene synthase (PSY) and represses its expression in the dark [67,68]. This repression is reversed by degradation of PIF1, which is mediated by phytochrome-PIF interactions in the light [57]. Induction of *PSY* transcription through phyA, on the other hand, is achieved by light-dependent promotion of the interaction of transcription factor HY5 with light responsive elements in the PSY promoter region [69]. An involvement of phytochrome in upregulation of PSY2 during seedling photoinduction also has been observed in maize [70]. However, a phytochrome-dependent increase in PSY activity under red light did not occur at a transcriptional level in tomato, but rather post-transcriptionally [71].

Photoreceptor regulation of carotenoid levels or regulation of light-associated stress is not limited to plants. In non-photosynthetic bacteria, the phytochrome-like photoreceptor BphP mediates induction of carotenoid biosynthesis [72,73]. BphP covalently binds the open chain tetrapyrrole biliverdin, and possibly phycocyanobilin [74]. The signaling cascade initiated by BphP induces accumulation of the carotenoid deinoxanthin in *Deino-coccus radiodurans* to protect the organism from high irradiances of visible light [73]. Additionally, *bphP1* mutant in *Azospirellum brasilense* SP7 showed increased sensitivity to photooxidative stress [75]. Proteome analysis of the *bphP1* mutant implied that the photoreceptor triggers a cellular response that leads to the regeneration of proteins damaged by photodynamic stress [75].

Besides regulating carotenoid synthesis in some systems, phytochrome is also known to regulate synthesis and function of other non-enzymatic antioxidants. For example, phytochrome positively regulates key enzymes of the glutathione–ascorbate cycle that are involved in the detoxification of hydrogen peroxide, including glutathione reductase [76], glutathione–S-transferase [77] and ascorbate peroxidase [78]. Phytochrome-controlled genes encoding oxidative stress defense enzymes include a catalase-encoding gene (*CAT3*) of *Arabidopsis* that requires phytochrome and a blue light receptor for accumulation of the protein in the dark [79]. SOD accumulates in the light in plants. Although it is not clear if this effect is photoreceptor mediated in plants [80], photoreceptor control of SOD accumulation was established in a cyanobacterium [32].

# Tetrapyrroles and tetrapyrrole-containing proteins can mediate the cellular detoxification of reactive oxygen species

Tetrapyrroles, including heme which is an excellent electron transfer molecule due to its central iron atom, are part of the electron transport chain or in the case of chlorophyll and phycobilins, funnel energy into the photosynthetic electron transport chain. Electron leakage can be associated with overreduction of the photosynthetic apparatus (phycobilisomes or photosystems; Table 1) or light absorption that exceeds the transfer capacity of the photosynthetic electron transport chain (described above) and also occurs during respiration. Thus, the major electron transport chains, i.e., the respiratory chain and the photosynthetic electron transport chain, are major generators of ROS, and thus are correlated with oxidative stress.

In addition to being associated with increased photooxidative stress, the cyclic tetrapyrrole heme has an essential role as a co-factor in sensor proteins [3,81]. Due to its central iron atom, protein-bound heme can act as a sensor of gases like carbon monoxide and oxygen, as well as the cellular redox state by means of a change in the reduction state of the central iron or by sensing of redox active molecules (reviewed in [2]). While the covalent attachment of heme to a protein implies redox or gas sensing, non-covalent binding of heme to a protein can be controlled by a thiol/disulfide redox switch, which can signal redox state either directly or indirectly (e.g., [82–85]).

Although some heme-bound proteins contribute to increased oxidative stress, heme can also have a role in mitigating ROS-related damage. Heme exhibits intrinsic peroxidase activity, which makes it an important cofactor in ROS-detoxifying enzymes, including catalases, superoxide dismutases and others (Table 1). In macrophages, heme suppresses oxidative stress [86]. Heme-containing cytochrome oxidases have the potential to serve as a sink for excess electrons from photosystem I (PSI) and minimize oxidative damage through oxygen consumption [87,88]. An involvement of cytochrome oxidase CtaDII, which complexes two heme molecules, in the oxidative stress response was implicated through observation of an upregulation of SOD in a Synechococcus sp. PCC 7002 mutant lacking CtaDII, which resulted in increased high-light resistance [89]. In plants, the universal stress response molecule and hormone abscisic acid (ABA) causes a transient elevation of heme levels, which was suggested to protect cells from damaging ROS by providing the heme cofactor for ROS-scavenging enzymes and ABA regulators [90]. In support of this protective role associated with heme, paraquat (methylviolgen)-induced oxidative stress was reduced in heme-treated plants [91].

## Interconnection of oxidative stress, tetrapyrrole metabolism and nutrient availability

Photosynthetic protein levels are generally reduced when nutrients are deficient resulting in cells with a higher potential for overreduction of electron carriers, as well as reduced capacity for mitigation of photooxidative damage under nutrient-deficient conditions [31,32]. Accordingly, oxidative stress occurs as a result of nutrient deprivation across a range of organisms [32,92–95]. In response, energy dissipation mechanisms are induced and photosynthetic pigments are degraded to avoid excessive light absorption (reviewed in [96]). Upon nitrogen and sulfur starvation, degradation of light-harvesting antennae can also provide the cells with amino acids and carbon scaffolds [31,97–100]. One essential nutrient with a role in tetrapyrrole metabolism and which serves as a cofactor in electron transport chains is iron (reviewed in [101,102]). This makes iron of special significance in oxidative stress responses in photosynthetic organisms in which iron is a key cofactor of the functional photosynthetic apparatus, generally resulting in a much higher iron requirement that for non-photo-synthetic bacteria [103,104].

### Iron-induced oxidative stress

Iron released from cellular enzymes can enhance oxidative stress. If the membrane-impenetrable, charged molecule superoxide anion is produced, it causes rapid oxidation of iron sulfur clusters, thereby releasing ferrous iron (reviewed in [105]). Ferrous iron then can act as a catalyst to generate hydroxyl radicals in the presence of hydrogen peroxide in the Fenton reaction [15]. During redox cycling, a release of stored iron from ferritin may also lead to ROS formation (reviewed by [106]). Therefore, iron is not only essential for detoxification of ROS, but in its free form or in ironcontaining components can also lead to ROS formation (Table 1).

#### Iron in the oxidative stress response

Oxidative stress may be caused by iron starvation [32,33,107,108]. One explanation for this effect is the need for iron as a cofactor in ROS-detoxifying enzymes such as SOD and catalases. In cyanobacteria, iron-containing SOD is down-regulated under iron deficiency [32,109]. Iron-requiring heme is the prosthetic group of oxygen-binding catalases that catalyze the decomposition of hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen (reviewed in [110]). Other iron-containing enzymes that are involved in oxidative stress defense mechanisms are rubrerythrin [111] and DNA-binding proteins from starved cells (Dps) [112-115], which prevent hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress. The chlorophyll-binding protein CP43' (IsiA), which is induced under iron starvation, is involved in energy dissipation [116-119]. IsiA is also induced under oxidative stress and it has been shown that its upregulation is due to iron deficiency-induced oxidative stress [33]. Although implicated in enhancing oxidative stress through iron release under oxidative stress [106], ferritin also has an important role in the oxidative stress response in its function in coordinated storage and release of iron in iron homeostasis [104,120].

Besides the essential function of iron in heme biosynthesis, non-heme iron sensors exist that act as transcriptional regulators (reviewed in [121]). For example, the ferric iron uptake regulator (Fur), which also responds to interaction with heme through a decrease in DNA-binding activity, can bind ferrous iron ions and act as a repressor or activator of transcription in its iron-bound or apo-form, respectively [122-124]. In cyanobacteria, Fur protects cells from oxidative stress [124,125]. Fur from the filamentous cyanobacterium Anabaena was shown to negatively regulate expression of the gene for DNA-binding hemoprotein DpsA, which is involved in the oxidative stress response [126]. Overexpression of fur in Anabaena led to a decrease in SOD and catalase activity, whereas no increase in ROS levels was observed [123]. Fur is upregulated in this organism in response to iron deprivation [122]. Fur overaccumulation in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 has been shown to impair IsiA accumulation [127]. Therefore, Fur appears to connect iron regulation with oxidative stress. Together, these examples show that mechanisms are in place that enable the cell to detoxify ROS formed in response to a high iron status of the cell.

The examples described show that incorporation and release of iron during tetrapyrrole biosynthesis (Fig. 1), and its role in oxidative stress responses, require tight co-regulation of iron homeostasis with tetrapyrrole homeostasis and oxidative stress responses. Failure to balance iron homeostasis with cellular tetrapyrrole status can have severe detrimental impacts on cellular fitness [122,128]. A large network of regulatory processes coordinating iron and tetrapyrrole homeostasis exists linking iron homeostasis to light regulation and photosynthetic pigment synthesis [32,63,122,128].

#### Iron-tetrapyrrole interconnection

Iron availability is integral to heme biosynthesis (Fig. 1). Porphobilinogen synthase is regulated by iron availability on a transcriptional level in bacteria [129]. This effect is mediated through the iron responsive transcriptional regulator iron response regulator (Irr), which is active only under iron-limitation, conditions under which it represses protoporphyrin synthesis [130]. Degradation of the Irr protein in the presence of iron is heme- [131] and ferrocheletase-dependent [132], resulting in a derepression of heme biosynthesis in replete conditions. The regulatory mechanism involving Irr also positively affects iron uptake [130]. Therefore, iron availability and transport is tightly co-regulated with heme biosynthesis. Relatedly, iron deficiency causes down-regulation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes [109,122,128]. Together, these observations highlight the coordination between iron homeostasis and regulation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis that occurs in cells.

A co-regulation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis and iron acquisition was also observed in yeast where inhibition of ALA synthase results in down-regulation of iron-uptake genes [133]. When no iron is available, repression of heme biosynthesis prevents the accumulation of photosensitizing porphyrins that could lead to ROS formation. Another protective mechanism is based on the export of porphyrins out of the cell when disturbances in tetrapyrrole biosynthesis cause accumulation of intermediates [134], or through specialized heme scavengers like hemozoin in *Plasmodium* [135,136], or via the putative multistress regulator and potential heme scavenger TSPO in plants [90] binding tetrapyrroles such as heme.

# Function of tetrapyrroles as signaling molecules and the oxidative stress response

Tetrapyrrole molecules indirectly regulate cellular processes like tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, redox control and many others through binding to proteins and subsequently changing the activities or binding affinities of these target proteins (see above). In plants, tetrapyrrole intermediates have been proposed to act as signals in retrograde signaling including oxidative stress signaling [137–142]. Mg-protoporphyrin IX accumulates in the cytosol during oxidative stress [143]. It was thought to act as a plastid-tonucleus signaling molecule that serves as a primary mechanism by which plastid functional status is communicated to the nucleus, a theory that was later challenged [144,145]. Kindgren et al. [142] observed a high representation of proteins related to oxidative stress among proteins identified in interaction studies with Mgprotoporphyrin IX, supporting a signaling role for Mg-protoporphyrin IX in oxidative stress response. However, a more recent study provided evidence for tetrapyrrole-induced ROS accumulation leading to ROS-mediated retrograde signaling rather than tetrapyrroles acting directly as signaling molecules in the induction of photosynthesis-associated nuclear gene expression [146]. The identification of proteins that can scavenge and degrade tetrapyrroles [90,147–149] is consistent with the hypothesis that the tetrapyrrole state of the cell is sensed, which results in regulation of tetrapyrrole homeostasis to prevent overaccumulation of photosensitizing tetrapyrrole metabolites.

Recently it has been observed that *Synechocystis* cells lacking ChIR, which is a positive regulator of oxygen-independent tetrapyrrole biosynthesis enzymes, are unable to induce the greening process in the light under low-oxygen conditions [150]. When the greening process is induced in the mutant under oxygen-sufficient conditions which allow oxygen-dependent tetrapyrrole biosynthesis needed for chlorophyll biosynthesis, the chlorophyll content increased concurrently with the other photosystem components [151]. These findings indicate that the levels of tetrapyrroles influence accumulation of the respective tetrapyrrole-requiring protein components to ensure that the complex components are only synthesized if a fully functional complex can be assembled. This observation is in accordance with the above-mentioned downregulation of tetrapyrrole synthesis due to a lack of iron in *Synechocystis* [109]. However, it is still possible that co-regulation of protein components can be achieved through mechanisms other than sensing of the tetrapyrrole status of the cell. Also, it was observed that expression of *psbA1*, which encodes the low-oxygen induced D1' protein, is activated by ChIR [150]. The lack of psbA1 on the other hand did not affect D1 levels, whereas D1 levels were decreased under low-oxygen conditions in mutants lacking either ChlR or the low-oxygen induced tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes, indicating that the decrease of D1 under these latter conditions is caused by chlorophyll deficiency [150,151]. Other reports in planta implicated tetrapyrrole chromophore biosynthesis as positively correlated with holophytochrome synthesis [152]. It is likely that the cell has evolved mechanisms to 'measure' the state of each component of a functional complex to avoid 'energy sinkholes'. In this regard, phytochromes have been implicated in coordinating the synthesis of nuclear- and plastid-encoded components of photosynthesis complexes to ensure correct stoichiometry [152,153]. Similar tetrapyrrole-dependent coregulatory processes might exist for the tetrapyrrole-dependent oxidative stress response.

Recently Duanmu and coworkers found that biliverdin or phycocyanobilin impacts chlorophyll signaling in Chlamydomonas [154]. This is supported by data showing that the *hmox* mutant. which lacks open-chain tetrapyrroles biliverdin or phycocyanobilin, has reduced chlorophyll levels in light-grown cells. As the mutant is still capable of synthesizing heme, studies using an exogenous reductase to prevent heme buildup were used to show that the phenotype is associated with the absence of biliverdin or phycocyanobilin and not heme buildup leading to feedback inhibition [154]. Thus, there appears to be a signaling role of biliverdin or phycocyanobilin in the induction of greening in this system. This is also supported by the fact that biliverdin feeding rescues the hmox mutant phenotype. Notably, global transcriptomic analysis showed that genes that are induced by light and suppressed by biliverdin were enriched for genes encoding high light stress-related proteins. It was therefore suggested that a light-independent, biliverdin-driven signaling mechanism exists that targets a network that prevents or reduces oxidative stress. These findings could explain the presence of a phycocyanobilin synthase in this organism despite the lack of phycobilisomes and phytochromes, which are known to covalently attach phycocyanobilin as chromophore [154]. Among cyanobacteria, marine Prochlorococci lack phycobilisomes as well, but the phycobiliprotein phycoerythrin has been identified [155–157]. The chromophore of phycoerythrin is unlikely to function as a photoreceptor chromophore due to the lack of a 15,16-double bond needed for photoisomerization and as the light-harvesting capacity is low [158]. Thus, a function of the tetrapyrrole chromophore as signaling molecule is plausible.

We hypothesize that tetrapyrroles might act as a signal for oxidative stress and the tetrapyrrole status in cyanobacterial cells, analogous to what prior studies in plants and green algae imply. Potential sensors for tetrapyrroles in this context have not been described. We propose factors such as the outer membrane putative tryptophan-rich sensory protein TspO as possible sensors in cyanobacteria.

# Tetrapyrroles, oxidative stress response and TspO

Homologs of TspO are found in a variety of organisms where the protein binds tetrapyrroles and has been implicated in the oxidative stress response (e.g., [90,159–164]). We also found a correlation between iron availability and *tspO* abundance at the transcriptional level in the cyanobacterium *Fremyella diplosiphon* [32]. Such a correlation is not surprising considering the crucial role of iron in tetrapyrrole metabolism (Fig. 1).

Tetrapyrrole binding to TspO has been shown in mammals, bacteria and plants [90,165–171]. We could also confirm this for a cyanobacterial homolog (Busch and Montgomery, unpublished data). If the binding of tetrapyrroles to TspO acts as a signal for the intracellular tetrapyrrole state, TspO could be involved in a signaling network which integrates iron availability, tetrapyrrole homeostasis under different light conditions and oxidative stress associated with iron and tetrapyrroles.

TspO influences tetrapyrrole and carotenoid levels in several organisms. For example, TspO in *Rhodobacter* functions as a negative regulator of bacteriochlorophyll and carotenoid biosynthesis [172]. In this organism, the tetrapyrrole pathway is targeted by TspO through a negative effect on coproporphyrinogen III oxidase activity [173]. In *Arabidopsis* on the other hand, TspO was itself regulated by tetrapyrrole metabolism [90]. Inducing cells to produce tetrapyrroles resulted in increased degradation of TspO protein [90].

TspO also has been implicated directly in the oxidative stress response. In the moss Physcomitrella patens, a mutant lacking TspO suffered from increased oxidative stress compared to wild type [159,164]. Often such a response is attributed to the ability of TspO to bind tetrapyrroles that can otherwise be harmful if free in the cell. However, ROS levels also were increased in Arabidopsis cells overexpressing TSPO [90]. Perhaps related to this observation, binding of photosensitizing porphyrins, including protoporphyrin IX, to mammalian TspO are correlated with photooxidative events connected to the mitochondrial permeability transition pore [174,175]. However, a role for TspO in regulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in mice has been recently challenged [176]. Thus, the exact function of TspO in the oxidative stress response is far from clear. We propose that TspO plays a role in integrating tetrapyrrole homeostasis and stress signals and that the protein may serve to link these networks to achieve the necessary co-regulation for sustained cellular fitness.

## Conclusions

Light is the main cause of oxidative stress in the photosynthetic cell, while other causes include imbalanced tetrapyrrole status and nutrient deprivation or excess, among others (Table 1). With light as the primary cause of oxidative stress, it is also the driver for the cellular response(s) to oxidative stress through ROS-dependent signaling and photoreceptor-mediated signaling (Fig. 2). Similarly, tetrapyrrole-light interactions are the primary cause of photooxidative stress but are also involved in oxidative stress-induced cellular responses to resist or mitigate oxidative stress. Widely accepted as important cofactors in light-sensing, light-harvesting and in various enzymatic reactions, the role of tetrapyrroles as direct signaling molecules is not as well established. We hypothesize a role of tetrapyrroles as signaling molecules in an integrated network that senses the tetrapyrrole status of the cell and results in a regulation of the oxidative stress-induced response and tetrapyrrole transport and metabolism. Through sensing of the iron-chelating tetrapyrrole heme, nutrient-adaptation processes could be initiated that would be integrated with the oxidative stress response known to be affected by nutrient availability.



**Fig. 2.** Interconnection of tetrapyrroles, iron and oxidative stress. Oxidative stress can be caused by light-tetrapyrrole interactions and abiotic stresses, including nutrient deprivation. Iron depletion can serve as a cause of oxidative stress; however when present in excess in its free form, iron also can cause oxidative stress through the Fenton reaction. Iron is needed in tetrapyrrole biosynthesis and released during heme cleavage or turnover (green lines and see Fig. 1). Photo-excitation of free tetrapyrroles can result in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS; purple lines). The oxidative stress response is triggered through light via tetrapyrrole-binding phytochrome signaling transduction and ROS-dependent signaling. Tetrapyrroles, including heme, are involved in the oxidative stress response, or mitigation of ROS accumulation as cofactors in the antioxidant systems (red line).

# Acknowledgements

Work in the corresponding author's laboratory is funded by the National Science Foundation for investigations into light signaling and adaptation in cyanobacteria (No. MCB-1243983 to BLM) and by the U.S. Department of Energy (Chemical Sciences, Geosciences and Biosciences Division, Office of Basic Energy Sciences, Office of Science, Grant no. DE-FG to BLM). We would like to thank Marlene Cameron for assistance with graphic design.

#### References

- M.J. Warren, A.G. Smith, Tetrapyrroles: Birth, Life, and Death, Landes Bioscience and Springer Science & Business Media, Austin, Texas, 2009.
- [2] H.M. Girvan, A.W. Munro, Heme sensor proteins, Journal of Biological Chemistry 288 (19) (2013) 13194–13203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. R112.422642 23539616.
- [3] F. Germani, L. Moens, S. Dewilde, Haem-based sensors: a still growing old superfamily, Advances in Microbial Physiology 63 (2013) 1–47. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407693-8.00001-7 24054793.
- [4] R. Croce, H. van Amerongen, Light-harvesting in photosystem I, Photosynthesis Research 116 (2-3) (2013) 153-166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11120-013-9838-x 23645376.
- [5] H. Van Amerongen, R. Croce, Light harvesting in photosystem II, Photosynthesis Research 116 (2–3) (2013) 251–263. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11120-013-9824-3 23595278.
- [6] C. Büchel, Evolution and function of light harvesting proteins, Journal of Plant Physiology 172C (2015) 62–75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. iplph.2014.04.018 25240794.
- [7] N.C. Rockwell, J.C. Lagarias, A brief history of phytochromes, ChemPhysChem 11 (6) (2010) 1172–1180. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/cphc.200900894 20155775.
- [8] R. Tanaka, A. Tanaka, Tetrapyrrole biosynthesis in higher plants, Annual Review of Plant Biology 58 (1) (2007) 321–346. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105448.
- [9] A. Krieger-Liszkay, Singlet oxygen production in photosynthesis, Journal of Experimental Botany 56 (411) (2005) 337–346. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ erh237 15310815.
- [10] A.N. Macpherson, A. Telfer, J. Barber, T.G. Truscott, Direct detection of singlet oxygen from isolated photosystem II reaction centres, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Bioenergetics 1143 (3) (1993) 301–309. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0005-2728(93)90201-P.
- [11] A. Telfer, Singlet oxygen production by PSII under light stress: mechanism, detection and the protective role of beta-carotene, Plant Cell Physiology 55 (7) (2014) 1216–1223. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcu040 24566536.
- [12] A.H. Mehler, Studies on reactions of illuminated chloroplasts. I. Mechanism of the reduction of oxygen and other Hill reagents, Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 33 (1) (1951) 65–77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(51) 90082-3 14857775.

- [13] A. Latifi, M. Ruiz, C.C. Zhang, Oxidative stress in cyanobacteria, FEMS Microbiology Reviews 33 (2) (2009) 258–278. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00134.x 18834454.
- [14] Y. Sheng, I.A. Abreu, D.E. Cabelli, M.J. Maroney, A.-F. Miller, M. Teixeira, J. S. Valentine, Superoxide dismutases and superoxide reductases, Chemical Reviews 114 (7) (2014) 3854–3918. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/cr4005296 24684599.
- [15] M.J. Burkitt, R.P. Mason, Direct evidence for in vivo hydroxyl-radical generation in experimental iron overload: an ESR spin-trapping investigation, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88 (19) (1991) 8440–8444. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.88.19.8440 1656444.
- [16] S. Jung, H.J. Lee, Y. Lee, K. Kang, Y.S. Kim, B. Grimm, K. Back, Toxic tetrapyrrole accumulation in protoporphyrinogen IX oxidase-overexpressing transgenic rice plants, Plant Molecular Biology 67 (5) (2008) 535–546. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s11103-008-9338-0 18437505.
- [17] R. Meskauskiene, M. Nater, D. Goslings, F. Kessler, R. op den Camp, K. Apel, FLU: a negative regulator of chlorophyll biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98 (22) (2001) 12826–12831. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.221252798 11606728.
- [18] E. Kruse, H.P. Mock, B. Grimm, Reduction of coproporphyrinogen oxidase level by antisense RNA synthesis leads to deregulated gene expression of plastid proteins and affects the oxidative defense system, EMBO Journal 14 (15) (1995) 3712–3720 7641690.
- [19] LL. Anzaldi, E.P. Skaar, Overcoming the heme paradox: heme toxicity and tolerance in bacterial pathogens, Infection and Immunity 78 (12) (2010) 4977–4989. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00613-10 20679437.
- [20] C. Mölzer, H. Huber, A. Steyrer, G. Ziesel, A. Ertl, A. Plavotic, M. Wallner, A. C. Bulmer, K.H. Wagner, In vitro antioxidant capacity and antigenotoxic properties of protoporphyrin and structurally related tetrapyrroles, Free Radical Research 46 (11) (2012) 1369–1377. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/ 10715762.2012.715371 22861140.
- [21] J.R. Durrant, L.B. Giorgi, J. Barber, D.R. Klug, G. Porter, Characterisation of triplet states in isolated photosystem II reaction centres: oxygen quenching as a mechanism for photodamage, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Bioenergetics 1017 (2) (1990) 167–175. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0005-2728 (90)90148-W.
- [22] A. Bennett, L. Bogorad, Complementary chromatic adaptation in a filamentous blue-green alga, Journal of Cell Biology 58 (2) (1973) 419–435. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.58.2.419 4199659.
- [23] P. Hsieh, J.Z. Pedersen, P. Albertano, Generation of reactive oxygen species upon red light exposure of cyanobacteria from Roman hypogea, International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 84 (2013) 258–265. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.11.007.
- [24] P. Hsieh, J.Z. Pedersen, L. Bruno, Photoinhibition of cyanobacteria and its application in cultural heritage conservation, Photochemistry and Photobiology 90 (3) (2014) 533–543. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/php.12208 24320697.
- [25] R. Schwarz, A.R. Grossman, A response regulator of cyanobacteria integrates diverse environmental signals and is critical for survival under extreme conditions, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95 (18) (1998) 11008–11013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.95.18.11008 9724820.
- [26] S. Zhang, J. Xie, J. Zhang, J. Zhao, L. Jiang, Electron spin resonance studies on photosensitized formation of hydroxyl radical by C-phycocyanin from Spirulina platensis, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1426 (1) (1999) 205–211. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4165(98)00153-6 9878738.
- [27] S. Rinalducci, J.Z. Pedersen, L. Zolla, Generation of reactive oxygen species upon strong visible light irradiation of isolated phycobilisomes from Synechocystis PCC 6803, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1777 (5) (2008) 417–424. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2008.02.005 18371294.
- [28] C.H. Foyer, M. Lelandais, KJ. Kunert, Photooxidative stress in plants, Physiol. Plant. 92 (1994) 696–717. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1994. tb03042.x.
- [29] A. Mor, E. Koh, L. Weiner, S. Rosenwasser, H. Sibony-Benyamini, R. Fluhr, Singlet oxygen signatures are detected independent of light or chloroplasts in response to multiple stresses, Plant Physiology 165 (1) (2014) 249–261. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.236380 24599491.
- [30] K.R. Messner, J.A. Imlay, Mechanism of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide formation by fumarate reductase, succinate dehydrogenase, and aspartate oxidase, Journal of Biological Chemistry 277 (45) (2002) 42563–42571. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M204958200 12200425.
- [31] E. Salomon, L. Bar-Eyal, S. Sharon, N. Keren, Balancing photosynthetic electron flow is critical for cyanobacterial acclimation to nitrogen limitation, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1827 (3) (2013) 340–347. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.11.010 23201479.
- [32] B. Pattanaik, A.W. Busch, P. Hu, J. Chen, B.L. Montgomery, Responses to iron limitation are impacted by light quality and regulated by RcaE in the chromatically acclimating cyanobacterium *Fremyella diplosiphon*, Microbiology 160 (5) (2014) 992–1005. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.075192-0 24623652.
- [33] A. Latifi, R. Jeanjean, S. Lemeille, M. Havaux, C.-C. Zhang, Iron starvation leads to oxidative stress in *Anabaena* sp. strain PCC 7120, Journal of Bacteriology 187 (18) (2005) 6596–6598. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.18.6596– 6598.2005 16159797.

- [34] I. Szabó, E. Bergantino, G.M. Giacometti, Light and oxygenic photosynthesis: energy dissipation as a protection mechanism against photo-oxidation, EMBO Reports 6 (7) (2005) 629–634. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400460 15995679.
- [35] C. Schnarrenberger, H. Mohr, Carotenoid synthesis in mustard seedlings as controlled by phytochrome and inhibitors, Planta 94 (4) (1970) 296–307. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00385762 24496974.
- [36] H.K. Lichtenthaler, Control of light-induced carotenoid synthesis in *Raphanus* seedlings by phytochrome, Physiololgia Plantarum 34 (4) (1975) 357–358. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1975.tb03852.x.
- [37] S. Frosch, H. Mohr, Analysis of light-controlled accumulation of carotenoids in mustard (*Sinapis alba* L.) seedlings, Planta 148 (3) (1980) 279–286. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00380039 24309831.
- [38] H.H. Zhong, A.S. Resnick, M. Straume, C. Robertson McClung, Effects of synergistic signaling by phytochrome A and cryptochrome1 on circadian clockregulated catalase expression, Plant Cell 9 (6) (1997) 947–955. http://dx.doi. org/10.1105/tpc.9.6.947 9212468.
- [39] H.H. Zhong, J.C. Young, E.A. Pease, R.P. Hangarter, C.R. McClung, Interactions between light and the circadian clock in the regulation of *CAT2* expression in *Arabidopsis*, Plant Physiology 104 (3) (1994) 889–898 12232134.
- [40] A.T. Ulijasz, R.D. Vierstra, Phytochrome structure and photochemistry: recent advances toward a complete molecular picture, Current Opinion in Plant Biology 14 (5) (2011) 498–506. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2011.06.002 21733743.
- [41] Q. He, N. Dolganov, O. Bjorkman, A.R. Grossman, The high light-inducible polypeptides in *Synechocystis* PCC6803. Expression and function in high light, Journal of Biological Chemistry 276 (1) (2001) 306–314. http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M008686200 11024039.
- [42] B. D'Autréaux, M.B. Toledano, ROS as signalling molecules: mechanisms that generate specificity in ROS homeostasis, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 8 (10) (2007) 813–824. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrm2256 17848967.
- [43] D. Aarti, R. Tanaka, H. Ito, A. Tanaka, High light inhibits chlorophyll biosynthesis at the level of 5-aminolevulinate synthesis during de-etiolation in cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) cotyledons, Photochemistry and Photobiology 83 (1) (2007) 171–176. http://dx.doi.org/10.1562/2006-03-06-RA-835 16922603.
- [44] R. Mittler, S. Vanderauwera, N. Suzuki, G. Miller, V.B. Tognetti, K. Vandepoele, M. Gollery, V. Shulaev, F. Van Breusegem, ROS signaling: the new wave? Trends in Plant Science 16 (6) (2011) 300–309. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. tplants.2011.03.007 21482172.
- [45] C.H. Foyer, G. Noctor, Redox regulation in photosynthetic organisms: signaling, acclimation, and practical implications, Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 11 (4) (2009) 861–905. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2008.2177 19239350.
- [46] C. Laloi, M. Stachowiak, E. Pers-Kamczyc, E. Warzych, I. Murgia, K. Apel, Cross-talk between singlet oxygen- and hydrogen peroxide-dependent signaling of stress responses in Arabidopsis thaliana, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104 (2) (2007) 672–677. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609063103 17197417.
- [47] M. Tikkanen, P.J. Gollan, N.R. Mekala, J. Isojärvi, E.M. Aro, Light-harvesting mutants show differential gene expression upon shift to high light as a consequence of photosynthetic redox and reactive oxygen species metabolism, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 369 (1640) (2014) 20130229. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2013.0229.
- [48] D.R. Gough, T.G. Cotter, Hydrogen peroxide: a Jekyll and Hyde signalling molecule, Cell Death &Disease 2 (2011) e213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ cddis.2011.96 21975295.
- [49] E. Veal, A. Day, Hydrogen peroxide as a signaling molecule, Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 15 (1) (2011) 147–151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ ars.2011.3968 21375475.
- [50] T. Finkel, Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species, Journal of Cell Biology 194 (1) (2011) 7–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201102095 21746850.
- [51] R.G. Op den Camp, D. Przybyla, C. Ochsenbein, C. Laloi, C. Kim, A. Danon, D. Wagner, E. Hideg, C. Göbel, I. Feussner, M. Nater, K. Apel, Rapid induction of distinct stress responses after the release of singlet oxygen in *Arabidopsis*, Plant Cell 15 (10) (2003) 2320–2332. http://dx.doi.org/10.1105/tpc.014662 14508004.
- [52] C. Kim, R. Meskauskiene, S. Zhang, K.P. Lee, M. Lakshmanan Ashok, K. Blajecka, C. Herrfurth, I. Feussner, K. Apel, Chloroplasts of *Arabidopsis* are the source and a primary target of a plant-specific programmed cell death signaling pathway, Plant Cell 24 (7) (2012) 3026–3039. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1105/tpc.112.100479 22797473.
- [53] D. Wagner, D. Przybyla, R. Op den Camp, C. Kim, F. Landgraf, K.P. Lee, M. Würsch, C. Laloi, M. Nater, E. Hideg, K. Apel, The genetic basis of singlet oxygen-induced stress responses of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Science 306 (5699) (2004) 1183–1185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1103178 15539603.
- [54] A. Alboresi, L. Dall'Osto, A. Aprile, P. Carillo, E. Roncaglia, L. Cattivelli, R. Bassi, Reactive oxygen species and transcript analysis upon excess light treatment in wild-type Arabidopsis thaliana vs a photosensitive mutant lacking zeaxanthin and lutein, BMC Plant Biology 11 (2011) 62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1471-2229-11-62 21481232.
- [55] D. Goslings, R. Meskauskiene, C. Kim, K.P. Lee, M. Nater, K. Apel, Concurrent interactions of heme and FLU with Glu tRNA reductase (HEMA1), the target

of metabolic feedback inhibition of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, in dark- and light-grown Arabidopsis plants, Plant Journal 40 (6) (2004) 957–967. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2004.02262.x 15584960.

- [56] D. Chen, G. Xu, W. Tang, Y. Jing, Q. Ji, Z. Fei, R. Lin, Antagonistic basic helixloop-helix/bZIP transcription factors form transcriptional modules that integrate light and reactive oxygen species signaling in *Arabidopsis*, Plant Cell 25 (5) (2013) 1657–1673. http://dx.doi.org/10.1105/tpc.112.104869 23645630.
- [57] J. Shin, K. Kim, H. Kang, I.S. Zulfugarov, G. Bae, C.H. Lee, D. Lee, G. Choi, Phytochromes promote seedling light responses by inhibiting four negatively-acting phytochrome-interacting factors, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106 (18) (2009) 7660–7665. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0812219106 19380720.
- [58] B. Al-Sady, W. Ni, S. Kircher, E. Schäfer, P.H. Quail, Photoactivated phytochrome induces rapid PIF3 phosphorylation prior to proteasome-mediated degradation, Molecular Cell 23 (3) (2006) 439–446. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.06.011 16885032.
- [59] H.-P. Mock, U. Keetman, E. Kruse, B. Rank, B. Grimm, Defense responses to tetrapyrrole-induced oxidative stress in transgenic plants with reduced uroporphyrinogen decarboxylase or coproporphyrinogen oxidase activity, Plant Physiology 116 (1) (1998) 107–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/ pp.116.1.107.
- [60] J. Moon, L. Zhu, H. Shen, E. Huq, PIF1 directly and indirectly regulates chlorophyll biosynthesis to optimize the greening process in *Arabidopsis*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105 (27) (2008) 9433–9438. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0803611105 18591656.
- [61] Z. Cheng, J. Wu, A. Setterdahl, K. Reddie, K. Carroll, LA. Hammad, J.A. Karty, C. E. Bauer, Activity of the tetrapyrole regulator CrtJ is controlled by oxidation of a redox active cysteine located in the DNA binding domain, Molecular Microbiology 85 (4) (2012) 734–746. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.08135.x 22715852.
- [62] A.S. Richter, B. Grimm, Thiol-based redox control of enzymes involved in the tetrapyrrole biosynthesis pathway in plants, Frontiers in Plant Science 4 (2013) 371. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00371 24065975.
- [63] L. Yin, C.E. Bauer, Controlling the delicate balance of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 368 (1622) (2013) 20120262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2012.0262.
- [64] A.P. Fernández, A. Strand, Retrograde signaling and plant stress: plastid signals initiate cellular stress responses, Current Opinion in Plant Biology 11 (5) (2008) 509–513. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2008.06.002 18639482.
- [65] J. Von Lintig, R. Welsch, M. Bonk, G. Giuliano, A. Batschauer, H. Kleinig, Lightdependent regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis occurs at the level of phytoene synthase expression and is mediated by phytochrome in *Sinapis alba* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings, Plant Journal 12 (3) (1997) 625–634. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1997.00625.x 9351247.
- [66] L. Pizarro, C. Stange, Light-dependent regulation of carotenoid biosynthesis in plants, Ciencia e Investigación Agraria 36 (2) (2009) 143–162. http://dx. doi.org/10.4067/S0718-16202009000200001.
- [67] P. Leivar, J.M. Tepperman, E. Monte, R.H. Calderon, T.L. Liu, P.H. Quail, Definition of early transcriptional circuitry involved in light-induced reversal of PIF-imposed repression of photomorphogenesis in young *Arabidopsis* seedlings, Plant Cell 21 (11) (2009) 3535–3553. http://dx.doi.org/10.1105/ tpc.109.070672 19920208.
- [68] G. Toledo-Ortiz, E. Huq, M. Rodríguez-Concepción, Direct regulation of phytoene synthase gene expression and carotenoid biosynthesis by phytochrome-interacting factors, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107 (25) (2010) 11626–11631. http://dx.doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0914428107 20534526.
- [69] G. Toledo-Ortiz, H. Johansson, K.P. Lee, J. Bou-Torrent, K. Stewart, G. Steel, M. Rodríguez-Concepción, K.J. Halliday, The HY5–PIF regulatory module coordinates light and temperature control of photosynthetic gene transcription, PLOS Genetics 10 (6) (2014) e1004416. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1004416.
- [70] F. Li, R. Vallabhaneni, J. Yu, T. Rocheford, E.T. Wurtzel, The maize phytoene synthase gene family: overlapping roles for carotenogenesis in endosperm, photomorphogenesis, and thermal stress tolerance, Plant Physiology 147 (3) (2008) 1334–1346. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.122119 18508954.
- [71] A. Schofield, G. Paliyath, Modulation of carotenoid biosynthesis during tomato fruit ripening through phytochrome regulation of phytoene synthase activity, Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 43 (12) (2005) 1052–1060. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2005.10.006 16442806.
  [72] B. Karniol, J.R. Wagner, J.M. Walker, R.D. Vierstra, Phylogenetic analysis of the
- [72] B. Karniol, J.R. Wagner, J.M. Walker, R.D. Vierstra, Phylogenetic analysis of the phytochrome superfamily reveals distinct microbial subfamilies of photoreceptors, Biochemical Journal 392 (1) (2005) 103–116. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1042/BJ20050826 16004604.
- [73] S.J. Davis, A.V. Vener, R.D. Vierstra, Bacteriophytochromes: phytochrome-like photoreceptors from nonphotosynthetic eubacteria, Science 286 (5449) (1999) 2517–2520. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5449.2517 10617469.
- [74] M. Jaubert, J. Lavergne, J. Fardoux, L. Hannibal, L. Vuillet, J.-M. Adriano, P. Bouyer, D. Pignol, E. Giraud, A. Verméglio, A singular bacteriophytochrome acquired by lateral gene transfer, Journal of Biological Chemistry 282 (10) (2007) 7320–7328. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M611173200 17218312.

- [75] S. Kumar, S. Kateriya, V.S. Singh, M. Tanwar, S. Agarwal, H. Singh, J. P. Khurana, D.V. Amla, A.K. Tripathi, Bacteriophytochrome controls carotenoid-independent response to photodynamic stress in a non-photosynthetic rhizobacterium, *Azospirillum brasilense* Sp7, Science Reports 2 (2012) 872. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep00872 23173079.
- [76] H. Drumm-Herrel, U. Gerhäußer, H. Mohr, Differential regulation by phytochrome of the appearance of plastidic and cytoplasmatic isoforms of glutathione reductase in mustard (*Sinapis alba* L.) cotyledons, Planta 178 (1) (1989) 103–109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00392533 24212555.
- [77] H.-W. Jiang, M.-J. Liu, I.-C. Chen, C.-H. Huang, L.-Y. Chao, H.-L. Hsieh, A glutathione S-transferase regulated by light and hormones participates in the modulation of *Arabidopsis* seedling development, Plant Physiology 154 (4) (2010) 1646–1658. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/pp.110.159152 20935176.
- [78] B. Thomsen, H. Drumm-Herrel, H. Mohr, Control of the appearance of ascorbate peroxidase (EC 1.11. 1.11) in mustard seedling cotyledons by phytochrome and photooxidative treatments, Planta 186 (4) (1992) 600–608. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00198042 24186792.
- [79] C.R. McClung, Regulation of catalases in Arabidopsis, Free Radical Biology and Medicine 23 (3) (1997) 489–496. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(97) 00109-3 9214587.
- [80] E.W. Tsang, C. Bowler, D. Hérouart, W. Van Camp, R. Villarroel, C. Genetello, M. Van Montagu, D. Inzé, Differential regulation of superoxide dismutases in plants exposed to environmental stress, Plant Cell 3 (8) (1991) 783–792. http://dx.doi.org/10.1105/tpc.38.783 1820818.
- [81] L. Yin, V. Dragnea, G. Feldman, L.A. Hammad, J.A. Karty, C.E. Dann 3rd, C. E. Bauer, Redox and light control the heme-sensing activity of AppA, mBio 4 (5) (2013) e00563-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00563-13.
- [82] L. Yi, S.W. Ragsdale, Evidence that the heme regulatory motifs in heme oxygenase-2 serve as a thiol/disulfide redox switch regulating heme binding, Journal of Biological Chemistry 282 (29) (2007) 21056–21067. http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M700664200 17540772.
- [83] L. Yi, J.T. Morgan, S.W. Ragsdale, Identification of a thiol/disulfide redox switch in the human BK channel that controls its affinity for heme and CO, Journal of Biological Chemistry 285 (26) (2010) 20117–20127. http://dx.doi. org/10.1074/jbc.M110.116483 20427280.
- [84] N. Gupta, S.W. Ragsdale, Thiol-disulfide redox dependence of heme binding and heme ligand switching in nuclear hormone receptor rev-erbβ, Journal of Biological Chemistry 286 (6) (2011) 4392–4403. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M110.193466 21123168.
- [85] L. Yi, P.M. Jenkins, L.I. Leichert, U. Jakob, J.R. Martens, S.W. Ragsdale, Heme regulatory motifs in heme oxygenase-2 form a thiol/disulfide redox switch that responds to the cellular redox state, Journal of Biological Chemistry 284 (31) (2009) 20556–20561. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.015651 19473966.
- [86] X. Wan, Y. Huo, M. Johns, E. Piper, J.C. Mason, D. Carling, D.O. Haskard, J. J. Boyle, 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase-activating transcription factor 1 cascade modulates human monocyte-derived macrophages to ather-oprotective functions in response to heme or metformin, Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology 33 (11) (2013) 2470–2480. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.300986 24051143.
- [87] H. Schubert, H. Matthijs, L. Mur, In vivo assay of P700 redox changes in the cyanobacterium *Fremyella diplosiphon* and the role of cytochrome oxidase in regulation of photosynthetic electron transfer, Photosynthetica 31 (1995) 517–527.
- [88] C.T. Nomura, S. Persson, G. Shen, K. Inoue-Sakamoto, D.A. Bryant, Characterization of two cytochrome oxidase operons in the marine cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7002: inactivation of *ctaDI* affects the PS I: PS II ratio, Photosynthesis Research 87 (2) (2006) 215–228. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/s11120-005-8533-y 16437183.
- [89] C.T. Nomura, T. Sakamoto, D.A. Bryant, Roles for heme-copper oxidases in extreme high-light and oxidative stress response in the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7002, Archives of Microbiology 185 (6) (2006) 471–479. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00203-006-0107-7 16775753.
- [90] C. Vanhee, G. Zapotoczny, D. Masquelier, M. Ghislain, H. Batoko, The Arabidopsis multistress regulator TSPO is a heme binding membrane protein and a potential scavenger of porphyrins via an autophagy-dependent degradation mechanism, Plant Cell 23 (2) (2011) 785–805. http://dx.doi.org/10.1105/ tpc.110.081570 21317376.
- [91] Q. Jin, K. Zhu, W. Cui, Y. Xie, B. Han, W. Shen, Hydrogen gas acts as a novel bioactive molecule in enhancing plant tolerance to paraquat-induced oxidative stress via the modulation of heme oxygenase-1 signalling system, Plant, Cell & Environment 36 (5) (2013) 956–969. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ pcc.12029 23094798.
- [92] P. Marambio, B. Toro, C. Sanhueza, R. Troncoso, V. Parra, H. Verdejo, L. García, C. Quiroga, D. Munafo, J. Díaz-Elizondo, R. Bravo, M.-J. González, G. Diaz-Araya, Z. Pedrozo, M. Chiong, M.I. Colombo, S. Lavandero, Glucose deprivation causes oxidative stress and stimulates aggresome formation and autophagy in cultured cardiac myocytes, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1802 (6) (2010) 509–518. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.02.002 20176105.
- [93] R. Kumar Tewari, P. Kumar, P. Nand Sharma, Magnesium deficiency induced oxidative stress and antioxidant responses in mulberry plants, Scientia Horticulturae 108 (1) (2006) 7–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. scienta.2005.12.006.
- [94] Y.-M. Zhang, H. Chen, C.-L. He, Q. Wang, Nitrogen starvation induced oxidative stress in an oil-producing green alga *Chlorella sorokiniana* C3, PLOS One 8 (7) (2013) e69225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0069225 23874918.

- [95] I. Juszczuk, E. Malusà, A.M. Rychter, Oxidative stress during phosphate deficiency in roots of bean plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), Journal of Plant Physiology 158 (10) (2001) 1299–1305. http://dx.doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00541.
- [96] R. Schwarz, K. Forchhammer, Acclimation of unicellular cyanobacteria to macronutrient deficiency: emergence of a complex network of cellular responses, Microbiology 151 (8) (2005) 2503–2514. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/ mic.0.27883-0 16079330.
- [97] J.L. Collier, A.R. Grossman, Chlorosis induced by nutrient deprivation in Synechococcus sp. strain PCC 7942: not all bleaching is the same, Journal of Bacteriology 174 (14) (1992) 4718–4726 1624459.
- [98] A. Gutu, R.M. Alvey, S. Bashour, D. Zingg, D.M. Kehoe, Sulfate-driven elemental sparing is regulated at the transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels in a filamentous cyanobacterium, Journal of Bacteriology 193 (6) (2011) 1449–1460. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JB.00885-10 21239582.
- [99] T. Osanai, S. Imamura, M. Asayama, M. Shirai, I. Suzuki, N. Murata, K. Tanaka, Nitrogen induction of sugar catabolic gene expression in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803, DNA Research 13 (5) (2006) 185–195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ dnares/dsl010 17046957.
- [100] G. Yamanaka, A.N. Glazer, Dynamic aspects of phycobilisome structure, Archives of Microbiology 124 (1) (1980) 39–47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF00407026.
- [101] B.L. Montgomery, S. Oh, B. Karakkat. Molecular basis and fitness implications of the interplay between light and the regulation of iron homeostasis in photosynthetic organisms, Environmental and Experimental Botany, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.06.018, in press.
- [102] J. Briat, C. Dubos, F. Gaymard, Iron nutrition, biomass production, and plant product quality, Trends in Plant Science 20 (1) (2015) 33–40. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.tplants.2014.07.005.
- [103] F. Ferreira, N.A. Straus, Iron deprivation in cyanobacteria, Journal of Applied Phycology 6 (2) (1994) 199–210. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02186073.
- [104] S. Shcolnick, T.C. Summerfield, L. Reytman, L.A. Sherman, N. Keren, The mechanism of iron homeostasis in the unicellular cyanobacterium Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 and its relationship to oxidative stress, Plant Physiology 150 (4) (2009) 2045–2056. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.141853 19561120.
- [105] J.A. Imlay, Pathways of oxidative damage, Annual Review of Microbiology 57 (2003) 395–418. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.57.030502.090938 14527285.
- [106] D.W. Reif, Ferritin as a source of iron for oxidative damage, Free Radical Biology and Medicine 12 (5) (1992) 417–427. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(92)90091-T 1317328.
- [107] A. Ranieri, A. Castagna, B. Baldan, G.F. Soldatini, Iron deficiency differently affects peroxidase isoforms in sunflower, Journal of Experimental Botany 52 (354) (2001) 25–35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jexbot/52.354.25 11181710.
- [108] E.I. Urzica, D. Casero, H. Yamasaki, S.I. Hsieh, L.N. Adler, S.J. Karpowicz, C. E. Blaby-Haas, S.G. Clarke, J.A. Loo, M. Pellegrini, S.S. Merchant, Systems and trans-system level analysis identifies conserved iron deficiency responses in the plant lineage, Plant Cell 24 (10) (2012) 3921–3948. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1105/tpc.112.102491 23043051.
- [109] L. Houot, M. Floutier, B. Marteyn, M. Michaut, A. Picciocchi, P. Legrain, J. C. Aude, C. Cassier-Chauvat, F. Chauvat, Cadmium triggers an integrated reprogramming of the metabolism of *Synechocystis* PCC6803, under the control of the SIr1738 regulator, BMC Genomics 8 (2007) 350. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2164-8-350 17910763.
- [110] S. Mishra, J. Imlay, Why do bacteria use so many enzymes to scavenge hydrogen peroxide? Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 525 (2) (2012) 145–160. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2012.04.014 22609271.
- [111] W. Zhao, Z. Ye, J. Zhao, RbrA, a cyanobacterial rubrerythrin, functions as a FNR-dependent peroxidase in heterocysts in protection of nitrogenase from damage by hydrogen peroxide in *Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120, Molecular Microbiology 66 (5) (2007) 1219–1230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05994.x 18001348.
- [112] M. Almirón, A.J. Link, D. Furlong, R. Kolter, A novel DNA-binding protein with regulatory and protective roles in starved *Escherichia coli*, Genes & Development 6 (12B) (1992) 2646–2654. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.6.12b.2646 1340475.
- [113] N. Sato, T. Moriyama, M. Toyoshima, M. Mizusawa, N. Tajima, The all0458/ lti46.2 gene encodes a low temperature-induced Dps protein homologue in the cyanobacteria Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 and Anabaena variabilis M3, Microbiology 158 (10) (2012) 2527–2536. http://dx.doi.org/10.1099/ mic 0.060657-0.22837304
- [114] X. Wei, H. Mingjia, L. Xiufeng, G. Yang, W. Qingyu, Identification and biochemical properties of Dps (starvation-induced DNA binding protein) from cyanobacterium *Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120, IUBMB Life 59 (10) (2007) 675–681. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15216540701606926 17852566.
- [115] S. Shcolnick, Y. Shaked, N. Keren, A role for mrgA, a DPS family protein, in the internal transport of Fe in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1767 (6) (2007) 814–819. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbabio.2006.11.015 17234153.
- [116] S. Sandström, A.G. Ivanov, Y.I. Park, G. Öquist, P. Gustafsson, Iron stress responses in the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. PCC7942, Physiologia Plantarum 116 (2) (2002) 255–263. http://dx.doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2002.1160216.x 12354203.
- [117] S. Sandström, Y.I. Park, G. Oquist, P. Gustafsson, CP43', the isiA gene product, functions as an excitation energy dissipator in the cyanobacterium

*Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7942, Photochemistry and Photobiology 74 (3) (2001) 431–437. http://dx.doi.org/10.1562/0031-8655(2001)074 < 0431: CTIGPF > 2.0.CO;2 11594057.

- [118] J.A. Ihalainen, S. D'Haene, N. Yeremenko, H. van Roon, A.A. Arteni, E. J. Boekema, R. van Grondelle, H.C. Matthijs, J.P. Dekker, Aggregates of the chlorophyll-binding protein IsiA (CP43') dissipate energy in cyanobacteria, Biochemistry 44 (32) (2005) 10846–10853. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/bi0510680 16086587.
- [119] Y.-I. Park, S. Sandström, P. Gustafsson, G. Öquist, Expression of the *isiA* gene is essential for the survival of the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7942 by protecting photosystem II from excess light under iron limitation, Molecular Microbiology 32 (1) (1999) 123–129. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01332.x 10216865.
- [120] G. Cairo, L. Tacchini, G. Pogliaghi, E. Anzon, A. Tomasi, A. Bernelli-Zazzera, Induction of ferritin synthesis by oxidative stress. transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation by expansion of the "free" iron pool, Journal of Biological Chemistry 270 (2) (1995) 700–703. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.270.2.700 7822298.
- [121] S. Spiro, B. D'Autréaux, Non-heme iron sensors of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, Antioxidants & Redox Signaling 17 (9) (2012) 1264–1276. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ars.2012.4533 22304730.
- [122] A. González, M.T. Bes, A. Valladares, M.L. Peleato, M.F. Fillat, FurA is the master regulator of iron homeostasis and modulates the expression of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes in *Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120, Environmental Microbiology 14 (12) (2012) 3175–3187. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2012.02897.x 23066898.
- [123] A. González, M.T. Bes, F. Barja, M.L. Peleato, M.F. Fillat, Overexpression of FurA in Anabaena sp. PCC 7120 reveals new targets for this regulator involved in photosynthesis, iron uptake and cellular morphology, Plant Cell Physiology 51 (11) (2010) 1900–1914. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcq148 20926415.
- [124] A. González, V.E. Angarica, J. Sancho, M.F. Fillat, The FurA regulon in Anabaena sp. PCC 7120: in silico prediction and experimental validation of novel target genes, Nucleic Acids Research 42 (8) (2014) 4833–4846. http://dx.doi. org/10.1093/nar/gku123 24503250.
- [125] S. López-Gomollón, E. Sevilla, M.T. Bes, M.L. Peleato, M.F. Fillat, New insights into the role of Fur proteins: FurB (*All2473*) from *Anabaena* protects DNA and increases cell survival under oxidative stress, Biochemical Journal 418 (1) (2009) 201–207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BJ20081066 18945213.
- [126] J.A. Hernández, S. Pellicer, L. Huang, M.L. Peleato, M.F. Fillat, FurA modulates gene expression of alr3808, a DpsA homologue in *Nostoc (Anabaena)* sp. PCC7120, FEBS Letters 581 (7) (2007) 1351–1356. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. febslet.2007.02.053 17350003.
- [127] V. Krynická, M. Tichý, J. Krafl, J. Yu, R. Kaňa, M. Boehm, P.J. Nixon, J. Komenda, Two essential FtsH proteases control the level of the Fur repressor during iron deficiency in the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803, Molecular Microbiology 94 (3) (2014) 609–624. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12782 25238320.
- [128] J. Rodríguez-Celma, I.C. Pan, W. Li, P. Lan, T.J. Buckhout, W. Schmidt, The transcriptional response of *Arabidopsis* leaves to Fe deficiency, Frontiers in Plant Science 4 (2013) 276. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00276 23888164.
- [129] S. Chauhan, D.E. Titus, M.R. O'Brian, Metals control activity and expression of the heme biosynthesis enzyme delta-aminolevulinic acid dehydratase in *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*, Journal of Bacteriology 179 (17) (1997) 5516–5520 9287008.
- [130] I. Hamza, S. Chauhan, R. Hassett, M.R. O'Brian, The bacterial Irr protein is required for coordination of heme biosynthesis with iron availability, Journal of Biological Chemistry 273 (34) (1998) 21669–21674. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.273.34.21669 9705301.
- [131] Z. Qi, I. Hamza, M.R. O'Brian, Heme is an effector molecule for iron-dependent degradation of the bacterial iron response regulator (Irr) protein, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96 (23) (1999) 13056–13061. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.23.13056 10557272.
- [132] Z. Qi, M.R. O'Brian, Interaction between the bacterial iron response regulator and ferrochelatase mediates genetic control of heme biosynthesis, Molecular Cell 9 (1) (2002) 155–162. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00431-2 11804594.
- [133] R.J. Crisp, A. Pollington, C. Galea, S. Jaron, Y. Yamaguchi-lwai, J. Kaplan, Inhibition of heme biosynthesis prevents transcription of iron uptake genes in yeast, Journal of Biological Chemistry 278 (46) (2003) 45499–45506. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M307229200 12928433.
- [134] D. Lechardeur, B. Cesselin, U. Liebl, M.H. Vos, A. Fernandez, C. Brun, A. Gruss, P. Gaudu, Discovery of intracellular heme-binding protein HrtR, which controls heme efflux by the conserved HrtB-HrtA transporter in *Lactococcus lactis*, Journal of Biological Chemistry 287 (7) (2012) 4752–4758. http://dx. doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.297531 22084241.
- [135] C.D. Fitch, Involvement of heme in the antimalarial action of chloroquine, Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association 109 (1998) 97–106 9601131.
- [136] T.J. Egan, J.M. Combrinck, J. Egan, G.R. Hearne, H.M. Marques, S. Ntenteni, B. T. Sewell, P.J. Smith, D. Taylor, D.A. van Schalkwyk, J.C. Walden, Fate of haem iron in the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*, Biochemical Journal 365 (2) (2002) 343–347. http://dx.doi.org/10.1042/BJ20020793 12033986.
- [137] J.D. Woodson, J.M. Perez-Ruiz, R.J. Schmitz, J.R. Ecker, J. Chory, Sigma factor-mediated plastid retrograde signals control nuclear gene

expression, Plant Journal 73 (2012) 1–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ tpj.12011 22950756.

- [138] M.J. Terry, A.G. Smith, A model for tetrapyrrole synthesis as the primary mechanism for plastid-to-nucleus signaling during chloroplast biogenesis, Frontiers in Plant Science 4 (2013) 14. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2013.00014 23407626.
- [139] R.E. Susek, F.M. Ausubel, J. Chory, Signal transduction mutants of Arabidopsis uncouple nuclear CAB and RBCS gene expression from chloroplast development, Cell 74 (5) (1993) 787–799. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93) 90459-4 7690685.
- [140] J. Kropat, U. Oster, W. Rüdiger, C.F. Beck, Chloroplast signalling in the light induction of nuclear HSP70 genes requires the accumulation of chlorophyll precursors and their accessibility to cytoplasm/nucleus, Plant Journal 24 (4) (2000) 523–531. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313x.2000.00898.x 11115133.
- [141] N. Mochizuki, R. Tanaka, B. Grimm, T. Masuda, M. Moulin, A.G. Smith, A. Tanaka, M.J. Terry, The cell biology of tetrapyrroles: a life and death struggle, Trends in Plant Science 15 (9) (2010) 488–498. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tplants.2010.05.012 20598625.
- [142] P. Kindgren, M.J. Eriksson, C. Benedict, A. Mohapatra, S.P. Gough, M. Hansson, T. Kieselbach, A. Strand, A novel proteomic approach reveals a role for Mgprotoporphyrin IX in response to oxidative stress, Physiologia Plantarum 141 (4) (2011) 310–320. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2010.01440.x 21158868.
- [143] A. Strand, T. Asami, J. Alonso, J.R. Ecker, J. Chory, Chloroplast to nucleus communication triggered by accumulation of Mg-protoporphyrinIX, Nature 421 (6918) (2003) 79–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature01204 12511958.
- [144] N. Mochizuki, R. Tanaka, A. Tanaka, T. Masuda, A. Nagatani, The steady-state level of Mg-protoporphyrin IX is not a determinant of plastid-to-nucleus signaling in *Arabidopsis*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105 (39) (2008) 15184–15189. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0803245105 18818313.
- [145] M. Moulin, A.C. McCormac, M.J. Terry, A.G. Smith, Tetrapyrrole profiling in *Arabidopsis* seedlings reveals that retrograde plastid nuclear signaling is not due to Mg-protoporphyrin IX accumulation, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105 (39) (2008) 15178–15183. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803054105 18818314.
  [146] H. Schlicke, A.S. Hartwig, V. Firtzlaff, A.S. Richter, C. Glässer, K. Maier,
- [146] H. Schlicke, A.S. Hartwig, V. Firtzlaff, A.S. Richter, C. Glässer, K. Maier, I. Finkemeier, B. Grimm, Induced deactivation of genes encoding chlorophyll biosynthesis enzymes disentangles tetrapyrrole-mediated retrograde signaling, Molecular Plant 7 (7) (2014) 1211–1227. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ mp/ssu034 24658417.
- [147] F.E. Dayan, A.M. Rimando, S.O. Duke, N.J. Jacobs, Thiol-dependent degradation of protoporphyrin IX by plant peroxidases, FEBS Letters 444 (2–3) (1999) 227–230. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(99)00065-4 10050764.
- [148] T. Chattopadhyay, S. Bhattacharyya, A.K. Das, M.K. Maiti, A structurally novel hemopexin fold protein of rice plays role in chlorophyll degradation, Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 420 (4) (2012) 862–868. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.03.089 22465006.
- [149] S. Hörtensteiner, B. Kräutler, Chlorophyll breakdown in higher plants, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1807 (8) (2011) 977–988. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.12.007 21167811.
- [150] R. Aoki, T. Takeda, T. Omata, K. Ihara, Y. Fujita, MarR-type transcriptional regulator ChIR activates expression of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis genes in response to low-oxygen conditions in cyanobacteria, Journal of Biological Chemistry 287 (16) (2012) 13500–13507. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M112.346205 22375005.
- [151] R. Aoki, Y. Hiraide, H. Yamakawa, Y. Fujita, A novel "oxygen-induced" greening process in a cyanobacterial mutant lacking the transcriptional activator ChlR involved in low-oxygen adaptation of tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, Journal of Biological Chemistry 289 (3) (2014) 1841–1851. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M113.495358 24297184.
- [152] S. Oh, B.L. Montgomery, Phytochrome-induced SIG2 expression contributes to photoregulation of phytochrome signalling and photomorphogenesis in Arabidopsis thaliana, Journal of Experimental Botany 64 (18) (2013) 5457–5472. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ert308 24078666.
- [153] S. Oh, B.L. Montgomery, Phytochrome-dependent coordinate control of distinct aspects of nuclear and plastid gene expression during anterograde signaling and photomorphogenesis, Frontiers in Plant Science 5 (2014) 171. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00171 24817873.
- [154] D. Duanmu, D. Casero, R.M. Dent, S. Gallaher, W. Yang, N.C. Rockwell, S. S. Martin, M. Pellegrini, K.K. Niyogi, S.S. Merchant, A.R. Grossman, J. C. Lagarias, Retrograde bilin signaling enables *Chlamydomonas* greening and phototrophic survival, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110 (9) (2013) 3621–3626. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1222375110 23345435.
- [155] W.R. Hess, F. Partensky, G.W. van der Staay, J.M. Garcia-Fernandez, T. Börner, D. Vaulot, Coexistence of phycoerythrin and a chlorophyll a/b antenna in a marine prokaryote, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93 (20) (1996) 11126–11130. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.93.20.11126 8855320.
- [156] C. Steglich, N. Frankenberg-Dinkel, S. Penno, W.R. Hess, A green light-absorbing phycoerythrin is present in the high-light-adapted marine cyanobacterium *Prochlorococcus* sp. MED4, Environmental Microbiology 7 (10) (2005) 1611–1618. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00855.x 16156734.

- [157] S. Penno, L. Campbell, W.R. Hess, Presence of phycoerythrin in two strains of Prochlorococcus (Cyanobacteria) isolated from the sub-tropical north Pacific Ocean, Journal of Phycology 36 (4) (2000) 723–729. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2000.99203.x.
- [158] C. Steglich, C.W. Mullineaux, K. Teuchner, W.R. Hess, H. Lokstein, Photophysical properties of *Prochlorococcus marinus* SS120 divinyl chlorophylls and phycoerythrin in vitro and in vivo, FEBS Letters 553 (1–2) (2003) 79–84. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(03)00971-2 14550550.
- [159] M.T. Lehtonen, M. Akita, W. Frank, R. Reski, J.P. Valkonen, Involvement of a class III peroxidase and the mitochondrial protein TSPO in oxidative burst upon treatment of moss plants with a fungal elicitor, Molecular Plant–Microbe Interactions 25 (3) (2012) 363–371. http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-10-11-0265 22112216.
- [160] J. Klubo-Gwiezdzinska, K. Jensen, A. Bauer, A. Patel, J. Costello Jr., K. D. Burman, L. Wartofsky, M.J. Hardwick, V.V. Vasko, The expression of translocator protein in human thyroid cancer and its role in the response of thyroid cancer cells to oxidative stress, Journal of Endocrinology 214 (2) (2012) 207–216. http://dx.doi.org/10.1530/JOE-12-0081 22645299.
- [161] J. Dimitrova-Shumkovska, L. Veenman, T. Ristoski, S. Leschiner, M. Gavish, Decreases in binding capacity of the mitochondrial 18 kda translocator protein accompany oxidative stress and pathological signs in rat liver after DMBA exposure, Toxicologic Pathology 38 (6) (2010) 957–968. http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/0192623310379137 21037200.
- [162] J. Dimitrova-Shumkovska, L. Veenman, T. Ristoski, S. Leschiner, M. Gavish, Chronic high fat, high cholesterol supplementation decreases 18 kDa translocator protein binding capacity in association with increased oxidative stress in rat liver and aorta, Food and Chemical Toxicology 48 (3) (2010) 910–921. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2009.12.032 20060027.
- [163] F. Favreau, L. Rossard, K. Zhang, T. Desurmont, E. Manguy, A. Belliard, S. Fabre, J. Liu, Z. Han, R. Thuillier, V. Papadopoulos, T. Hauet, Expression and modulation of translocator protein and its partners by hypoxia reoxygenation or ischemia and reperfusion in porcine renal models, American Journal of Physiology – Renal Physiology 297 (1) (2009) F177–F190. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1152/ajprenal.90422.2008 19386723.
- [164] W. Frank, K.M. Baar, E. Qudeimat, M. Woriedh, A. Alawady, D. Ratnadewi, L. Gremillon, B. Grimm, R. Reski, A mitochondrial protein homologous to the mammalian peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor is essential for stress adaptation in plants, Plant Journal 51 (6) (2007) 1004–1018. http://dx.doi. org/10.1111/j.1365–313X.2007.03198.x 17651369.
- [165] J.G. Pastorino, G. Simbula, E. Gilfor, J.B. Hoek, J.L. Farber, Protoporphyrin IX, an endogenous ligand of the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor, potentiates induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition and the killing of cultured hepatocytes by rotenone, Journal of Biological Chemistry 269 (49) (1994) 31041–31046 7983042.
- [166] S. Taketani, H. Kohno, M. Okuda, T. Furukawa, R. Tokunaga, Induction of peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptors during differentiation of mouse erythroleukemia cells. A possible involvement of these receptors in heme biosynthesis, Journal of Biological Chemistry 269 (10) (1994) 7527–7531 8125973.
- [167] A. Verma, S.H. Snyder, Peripheral type benzodiazepine receptors, Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology 29 (1989) 307–322. http://dx.doi. org/10.1146/annurev.pa.29.040189.001515 2543271.

- [168] S.H. Snyder, A. Verma, R.R. Trifiletti, The peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor: a protein of mitochondrial outer membranes utilizing porphyrins as endogenous ligands, FASEB Journal 1 (4) (1987) 282–288 2820823.
- [169] K.W. Kinnally, D.B. Zorov, Y.N. Antonenko, S.H. Snyder, M.W. McEnery, H. Tedeschi, Mitochondrial benzodiazepine receptor linked to inner membrane ion channels by nanomolar actions of ligands, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90 (4) (1993) 1374–1378. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.90.4.1374 7679505.
- [170] F. Li, Y. Xia, J. Meiler, S. Ferguson-Miller, Characterization and modeling of the oligomeric state and ligand binding behavior of purified translocator protein 18 kDa from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*, Biochemistry 52 (34) (2013) 5884–5899. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/bi400431t 23952237.
- [171] P. Lindemann, A. Koch, B. Degenhardt, G. Hause, B. Grimm, V. Papadopoulos, A novel Arabidopsis thaliana protein is a functional peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor, Plant Cell Physiology 45 (6) (2004) 723–733. http://dx. doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pch088 15215507.
- [172] A.A. Yeliseev, S. Kaplan, A sensory transducer homologous to the mammalian peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor regulates photosynthetic membrane complex formation in *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* 2.4.1, Journal of Biological Chemistry 270 (36) (1995) 21167–21175. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.270.36.21167 7673149.
- [173] A.A. Yeliseev, S. Kaplan, A novel mechanism for the regulation of photosynthesis gene expression by the TspO outer membrane protein of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* 2.4.1, Journal of Biological Chemistry 274 (30) (1999) 21234–21243. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.30.21234 10409680.
- [174] J. Šileikytė, V. Petronilli, A. Zulian, F. Dabbeni-Sala, G. Tognon, P. Nikolov, P. Bernardi, F. Ricchelli, Regulation of the inner membrane mitochondrial permeability transition by the outer membrane translocator protein (peripheral benzodiazepine receptor), Journal of Biological Chemistry 286 (2) (2011) 1046–1053. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.172486 21062740.
- [175] O.R. Kunduzova, G. Escourrou, F. De La Farge, R. Salvayre, M.H. Séguélas, N. Leducq, F. Bono, J.M. Herbert, A. Parini, Involvement of peripheral benzodiazepine receptor in the oxidative stress, death-signaling pathways, and renal injury induced by ischemia-reperfusion, Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 15 (8) (2004) 2152–2160. http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/01. ASN.0000133563.41148.74 15284300.
- [176] J. Šileikytė, E. Blachly-Dyson, R. Sewell, A. Carpi, R. Menabò, F. Di Lisa, F. Ricchelli, P. Bernardi, M. Forte, Regulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore by the outer membrane does not involve the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor (translocator protein of 18 kDa (TSPO)), Journal of Biological Chemistry 289 (20) (2014) 13769–13781. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1074/jbc.M114.549634 24692541.
- [177] K.P. Michel, E.K. Pistorius, Adaptation of the photosynthetic electron transport chain in cyanobacteria to iron deficiency: the function of IdiA and IsiA, Physiologia Plantarum 120 (1) (2004) 36–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.0031-9317.2004.0229.x 15032875.
- [178] S. Shcolnick, N. Keren, Metal homeostasis in cyanobacteria and chloroplasts. Balancing benefits and risks to the photosynthetic apparatus, Plant Physiology 141 (3) (2006) 805–810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1104/pp.106.079251 16825338.